IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

EVANNA PLANTATION, INC., DAVID KLAUS. TRUSTEE OF THE DAVID KLAUS TRUST, AND SABILL FARMS, A PARTNERSHIP

APPELLANTS

VS.

NO. 2007-CA-02087

ERNEST THOMAS and CAMILLE S. THOMAS

APPELLEES

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF SHARKEY COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Submitted by:

Nathan P. Adams, Jr. (MB MANSOUR & ADAMS 143 North Edison Street P. O. Box 1406 Greenville, MS 38702-1406 662/378-2244

Attorney for Appellants

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

EVANNA PLANTATION, INC., DAVID KLAUS, TRUSTEE OF THE DAVID KLAUS TRUST, AND SABILL FARMS, A PARTNERSHIP

APPELLANTS

VS.

NO. 2007-CA-02087

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. The Court erred when it found that no express easement existed.
- 2. The Court erred when it found that the Plaintiffs had failed to meet their burden to establish an easement by necessity.
- 3. The Court erred when it found that Plaintiffs' theory of an easement fails, because the use of the land was permissive as evidenced by William Klaus' and Moore's gentlemen's agreement, as well as their respective depositions, which reveal that the Moore family initially gave the Klaus family permission before Thomas purchased the property.
- 4. The Court erred in holding that Appellants failed to establish a prescriptive easement either from Oil Well Road on the north or Coon Bayou Road on the south.
- 5. The Court erred when it found that Plaintiffs' request for damages should be denied.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellants, Evanna Plantation, Inc., David Klaus, Trustee of the David Klaus Trust, and Sabill Farms, a Partnership, filed a Complaint for Injunction on September 15, 2004 seeking to perfect and to establish easements enabling Appellants to reach 100 acres of land on the east side of Coon Bayou. Appellees have blocked access to the 100 acres of land from Oil Well Road on the north and Coon Bayou Road on the south so that the 100 acres of land has now been rendered inaccessible to Appellants. There is no direct access to a public road from the 100 acres of land except over Thomas land. As a direct cause and result, Appellants have been unable to rent the 100 acres of land located east of Coon Bayou and have suffered lost rental of \$21,000.00 for which judgment is sought. Ernest Thomas, answered. On February 27, 2006 an Agreed Judgment was entered allowing amendment to the Complaint to add the additional Defendant and Appellee, Camille S. Thomas, wife of Ernest Thomas. After trial of the matter the Court entered its Memorandum Opinion and Final Judgment of Dismissal on October 23, 2007 from which this appeal is taken. (Vol. 5, T.R. 857-683, R.E. 5)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Evanna Plantation, Inc. claims a prescriptive easement from Oil Well Road, a public road, south across the property of Ernest G. Thomas to the Klaus 100 acre tract and further claims an easement of necessity, an implied easement, and an

Camille Thomas to the 100 acre tract. The David Klaus Trust claims an express easement, an easement of necessity, an implied easement, and a prescriptive easement from Oil Well Road south over and across the property of Ernest G. Thomas to the 100 acre tract and further claims a prescriptive easement from Sabill Road east across the property of Camille Thomas to the 100 acre tract.

Ownership of property.

- (a) The Camille Thomas property lies immediately south of Evanna Plantation, Inc. (see Defendants' Exhibits 62 and 63) (Vol. 7, T.R. 955, 956) and the Ernest Thomas lies east of the Klaus Trust property located in Sections 22 and 27. See Defendants' Exhibit 51 (Vol. 7, T.R. 944) which shows Defendants' property in Sections 23 and 26. Thus, the Thomases own an "L" shaped tract of land which border the land of Appellants on the south and east with Coon Bayou running in a northeasterly direction and cutting off the 100 acres. The Appellants' triangular shape of 100 acres is located partially in both Section 22 and 27 is thus cut off. See Exhibit 51 (Vol. 7, T.R. 944).
- (b) The David Klaus Trust owns the East Half of Section 22, Township 11 North, Range 7 West, Sharkey County, Mississippi. This property lies directly west of the Ernest Thomas property in Sections 23 and 26, Township 11 North, Range 7 West. The Klaus property was acquired in two different conveyances,

hereafter described. The Northeast Quarter of Section 22 is shown on Defendant's Exhibit 58. The Southeast Quarter of Section 22 is shown on Defendant's Exhibit 59. Evanna Plantation, Inc. owns the North Half, North Half, Section 27, Township 11 North, Range 7 West. This property was acquired from two difference sources: North Half, Northwest Quarter of Section 27 as shown on Defendants' Exhibit 60; North Half, Northeast Quarter of Section 27 as shown on Defendants' Exhibit 61. Coon Bayou bisects in a northeasterly manner, North Half, Northeast Quarter of Section 27 and East Half of Section 22, Township 11 North, Range 7 West.

(c) <u>Sabill Farms Partnership</u> Sabill Farms Partnership owns no real property; however, Sabill Farms Partnership, is the lessee from both Evanna Plantation and David Klaus Trust of all lands described in the Complaint and as such lessee has a right to possession, injunctive relief and damages as a result of the blocking of the access to the 100 acres of land by Ernest G. Thomas and Camille S. Thomas. Klaus deposition pages 21, 22, 23 and 24. (Vol. 6, T.R. 848-851)

Source of title

A. Section 22-11-7, Property of Klaus Trust On September 1, 1954, in Book 105 at Page 296 (Exhibit 5) (Vol. 4, T.R. 498-500), Lee Pickert and Amber Pickert, sole heirs at law of Frank Pickert, deceased, conveyed by Warranty Deed

to Billy Partee, predecessor of Klaus, the Northeast Quarter of Section 22, Township 11 North, Range 7 West, Sharkey County, Mississippi. In addition, the conveyance was to convey all "rights, easements, improvements and appurtenances thereon situate and thereunto belonging, except as herein reserved." On October 4, 1954, in Book 105 at Page 296 (Exhibit 6) (Vol. 4, T.R. 501-503), Billy Partee conveyed and warranted unto William J. Klaus the Northeast Quarter of Section 22, Township 11 North, Range 7 West. Nine-tenths (.9) of an acre included in the Northeast Quarter of Section 22 lies to the east of Coon Bayou (toward Thomas). Two-tenths (.2) of an acre title to which is vested in Ernest G. Thomas lies to the west of Coon Bayou (toward Klaus). (See deposition Klaus testimony page 37-39, Plaintiffs' Exhibit 35) (Vol. 6, TR 864-866); deposition of Ernest G. Thomas page 29-31, Plaintiffs' Exhibit 1) (Vol. 5, T.R. 728-730) The conveyance from Billy Partee of necessity conveyed to William J. Klaus the right to to travel on Oil Well Road east and south from the road to reach the said .9 of an acre located to the east of Coon Bayou. The Northeast Quarter is bisected by Coon Bayou.

On November 5, 1956, recorded November 12, 1956 in Book 112 at Page 111 (Exhibit 7) (Vol. 4, T.R. 504), Delta Gulf Drilling Company conveyed by Special Warranty Deed the Southeast Quarter of Section 22, Township 11, Range 7 West to William J. Klaus. (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 6) (Vol. 6, T.R. 758) The conveyance further provided it was to convey "rights, easements, improvements

and appurtenances thereon situate and thereunto belonging except as herein reserved." The Southeast Quarter of Section 22 is bisected by Coon Bayou in a Northeasterly direction so that property conveyed to Klaus by Delta Gulf Drilling Company lies on both sides of Coon Bayou, that is, east of Coon Bayou and west of Coon Bayou. (See map, Exhibit 3) (Vol. 4, T.R. 496).

The conveyance by Delta Gulf to Klaus of necessity conveyed the right to reach the property on the east side of Coon Bayou and also on the west side of Coon Bayou by right of access from Oil Well Road south to the Delta Gulf conveyance to Klaus.

The properties in Section 22 by mesne conveyances are now owned by The David Klaus Trust by virtue of an executor and trustee's deed executed by David Klaus, Ben Lamensdorf and J. Stein in their various capacities as either executors and/or trustees dated March 26, 2001, recorded April 5, 2001 in Deed Book 254 at Page 141 (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 7) (Vol. 6, T.R. 759-762). The deed conveys the East Half (Northeast Quarter and Southeast Quarter) of Section 22, Township 11, Range 7 West, Sharkey County to the David Klaus Trust. The property is bisected by Coon Bayou (Exhibit 3) (Vol. 4, T.R. 496).

B. Section 27-11-7, Property of Evanna Plantation, Inc. On August 2, 1976, recorded August 30, 1976 in Book 175 at Page 235 (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 8) (Vol. 6, T.R. 764-764), William W. Moore, predecessor in title to Camille Thomas,

conveyed to Evanna Plantation, Inc. the North Half of the Northeast Quarter of Section 27, Township 11 North, Range 7 West, Sharkey County, Mississippi. Defendants' Exhibit 6. The land is bisected in a northeasterly direction by Coon Bayou. William Moore and Mrs. Jane Moore Raney before and after the conveyance to Evanna Plantation, Inc. were the owners of all of Section 27 with the exception of North Half, North Half Section 27 by Deed from Julian H. Moore and wife, Virginia W. Moore dated June 10, 1976 and recorded in Book 175, Page 146 (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 15) (Vol. 6, T.R. 774-776) of the land records of Sharkey County, Mississippi.

C. Leasehold Interest and Title Interest Evanna Plantation, Inc. leased the North Half of the North Half of Section 27, Township 11, Range 7 West on November 24, 2003 to Sabill Farms. The David Klaus Trust leased to Sabill Farms on November 24, 2003, 544 acres of land which includes the East Half of Section 22, Township 11, Range 7 West (Northeast Quarter, Southeast Quarter). Sabill Farms leased to Jessie Willis, Jr., 940 acres of land which includes North Half, North Half, Section 27, Township 11, Range 7 West and also all of Section 22, Township 11, Range 7 West except the 100 acres of land east of Coon Bayou which was not leased because of the Ernest Thomas letter dated February 4, 2003 (Exhibit D-2, Vol. 1, T.R. 143). The title holders' lands are thus Evanna Plantation, Inc. (North Half, North Half of Section 27-11-7) and David Klaus Trust

(East Half Section 22, Township 11, Range 7) with tenants and/or lessors being Sabill Farms, a partnership, and Jessie Willis with respect to the North Half, North Half of Section 27, Township 11, Range 7 West. See deposition of David Klaus, Plaintiffs' Exhibit 35, pages 10 through 13 inclusive (Vol. 6, T.R. 837-840).

Examination of the abstract records and the documents filed in Section 27, Township 11, Range 7, Sharkey County, Mississippi, reveals the following information:

A. On September 22, 1954, recorded September 27, 1954, G. H. King and G. H. King, Jr. conveyed by Warranty Deed recorded in Book 105 at Page 159 (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 9) (Vol. 6, T.R. 765) all of Section 27 less and except the North Half of the Northwest Quarter of Section 27. The conveyance was made to W. W. Moore and J. H. Moore, a partnership operating as J. H. Moore & Son. This conveyance includes the Evanna Plantation property in the Northeast Quarter.

On October 31, 1968, recorded December 20, 1968, Julian H. Moore and Virginia W. Moore, husband and wife, conveyed to William W. Moore by Special Warranty Deed recorded in Book 152 at Page 614 (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 10) (Vol. 6, T.R. 766), the North Half of the Northeast Quarter of Section 27. This is now the Evanna property in the Northeast Quarter. William W. Moore and wife, Frances R. Moore, conveyed to Julian H. Moore by Special Warranty Deed dated October 31, 1968, recorded December 20, 1968 in Book 152 at Page 617 (Plaintiffs'

Exhibit 11) (Vol. 6, T.R. 767) the South Half of the Northeast Quarter and all of the South Half of 27. The instrument recites that it conveys grantor's undivided one-half interest to Julian H. Moore.

William W. Moore on August 2, 1976, recorded August 30, 1976, conveyed the North Half Northeast Quarter, 80 acres, to Evanna Plantation, Inc., of record in Book 175 at Page 235 (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 8) (Vol. 6, T.R. 763-764).

On September 22, 1954, G. H. King and G. H. King, Jr. conveyed the North Half Northwest Quarter of Section 27 to Paul W. Harris and Katherine B. Harris, husband and wife, of record in Book 105 at Page 164 (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 12) (Vol. 6, T.R. 769-770).

Paul W. Harris and Katherine B. Harris, his wife, conveyed to William J. Klaus on December 19, 1963, recorded December 20, 1963 in Book 132 at Page 530 (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 13) (Vol. 6, T.R. 771-772), the North Half Northwest Quarter.

William J. Klaus on March 26, 1970, recorded March 26, 1970, conveyed to Evanna Plantation, Inc., North Half Northwest Quarter, recorded in Book 162 at Page 368 (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 14) (Vol. 6, T.R. 773).

This places the North Half of the North Half (North Half Northeast Quarter and North Half Northwest Quarter) in Evanna Plantation, Inc. by the Deed from William W. Moore dated August 2, 1976 in Book 175 at Page 235 (Plaintiffs'

Exhibit 8) (Vol. 6, T.R. 763-764) and the Deed from William J. Klaus dated March 26, 1970 in Book 162 at Page 368 (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 14) (Vol. 6, T.R. 773). Evanna Plantation, Inc. has therefore owned the whole of the North Half of the North Half from August 2, 1976 to date.

- B. On June 10, 1976, Julian H. Moore and wife, Virginia W. Moore, conveyed to William Moore and Mrs. Jane Moore Raney by Warranty Deed of record in Book 175 at Page 146 (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 15) (Vol. 6, T.R. 774-776), recorded June 21, 1976, all of Section 27 except the North Half of the North Half of 27. The exception is the identical property that Evanna Plantation now owns. Note that the conveyance from Julian H. and Virginia Moore to William Moore and Mrs. Jane Moore Raney dated June 10, 1976 recorded June 21, 1976 in Book 175 at Page 146 (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 15) (Vol. 6, T.R. 774-776) predates the William W. Moore conveyance to Evanna Plantation. Therefore, at the time of the conveyance from William W. Moore to Evanna Plantation he already owned a one-half interest in all of Section 27 except the North Half of the North Half of Section 27 (the Evanna property).
- C. On October 9, 1987, recorded October 9, 1987, Jane Moore Raney conveyed to W. W. Moore by Right of Way Deed of record in Book 200 at Page 85 (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 16) (Vol. 6, T.R. 777) a 30 foot right of way, attempting to service the property in Sections 23 and 26, Township 11, Range 7, Sharkey

County, Mississippi. The Sections 23 and 26 property is now the Ernest Thomas property located to the east of Coon Bayou and to the east of the Evanna Plantation property located on the east side of Coon Bayou. At the time this conveyance of right of way was made to W. W. Moore, he already owned an undivided one-half interest in all of Section 27 except the North Half Northeast Quarter of 27 (see conveyance from Julian H. Moore, et ux. to William Moore and Jane Moore Raney dated June 10, 1976, or record in Book 175 at Page 146 above, Plaintiffs' Exhibit 15). Moore was already the owner of a one-half interest in parts of Section 27.

D. On January 8, 1988, recorded January 12, 1988, William W. Moore in Book 200 at Page 228 (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 17) (Vol. 6, T.R. 778-779) conveyed a .4723636 interest of his undivided one-half interest to Jane Moore Raney, individually and as Trustee, for the South Half North Half of Section 27 and the South Half of Section 27, Township 11, Range 7, Sharkey County. It would appear that William W. Moore then owned a fractional interest of 0.5276364 of his one-half or approximately .2638182 or one-fourth in the property. The remaining three-fourths were owned by Jane Moore Raney, individually and as Trustee. The conveyance would appear to re-vest in Jane Moore Raney any interest in the questionable right of way except for a one-fourth interest in the right of way in William W. Moore.

Additional facts will be developed in the argument.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellants seek to perfect and establish easements enabling them to reach 100 acres of their land located on the East side of Coon Bayou. Appellees have blocked access by Appellants to the 100 acres of land both from Oil Well Road on the North and Coon Bayou Road on the south so the 100 acres of land is inaccessible to Appellants. There is no direct access to a public road from the 100 acres of land except either over Thomas land or over the Coon Bayou stream.

The Thomas property "L's" the Klaus property so that Klaus is enclosed by the "L" both on the Klaus' South and East sides. Oil Well Road runs along the North side of the Klaus property. There is a field road running from Sabill Road, East called Coon Bayou Road to the 100 acres of land. Coon Bayou runs diagonally in a northeasterly direction across the Klaus land. As a result of the Coon Bayou stream, 100 acres of Klaus land is cut off from the principal Klaus land. Appellees have blocked access from Oil Well Road on the North and the Coon Bayou field road running East and West. As a result, Klaus cannot reach the 100 acres of land. (Defendants' Exhibits 62 and 63, Vol. 7, T.R. 955, 956, Exhibit 51, Vol. 7, T.R. 944).

Evanna Plantation, Inc. claims a prescriptive easement from Oil Well Road south across the property of Ernest G. Thomas and further claims an easement of necessity, an implied easement, and an prescriptive easement from Sabill Road east

across the property of Camille Thomas. The David Klaus Trust claims an express easement, an easement of necessity, an implied easement, and a prescriptive easement from Oil Well Road south over and across the property of Ernest G. Thomas and further claims a prescriptive easement from Sabill Road east across the property of Camille Thomas.

ARGUMENT

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Mississippi Supreme Court in *Cole v. National Life Inc. Co.*, 549 So.2d 1301, 1303 (Miss. 1989) announced the following standard of review for a Chancellor's Decree:

I. What is the Standard of Review for a Chancellor's Decree?

When presented with what is essentially a question of law, the familiar manifest error/substantial evidence rules have no application to our appellate review of such questions. The principle of "manifest error" applies only to a factual situation. If the chancellor is manifestly wrong in basing his decision upon the facts, then this Court will reverse; otherwise, we will affirm. This rule does not apply on questions of law. Boggs v. Eaton, 379 So.2d 520, 522 (Miss. 1980); Mississippi State Highway Commission v. Dixie Contractors, Inc. 375 So.2d 1202, 1206 (Miss. 1979); S & A Realty Co. v. Hilburn, 249 So.2d 379, 382 (Miss. 1971); see also, Pullman-Standard, a Division of Pullman, Inc. v. Swint, 456 U.S. 273, 287, 102 S.Ct. 1781, 1789, 72 L.Ed.2d 66, 79 (1982).

With regard to a pure question of law this Court shall conduct a *de novo* review.

PROPOSITION I

THE COURT ERRED WHEN IT FOUND THAT NO EXPRESS EASEMENT EXISTED.

The Court found on page 18, Vol. 5, T.R. 674, R.E. 22 as follows:

The Plaintiffs assert that an express easement exists from Oil Well Road with regard to the Northeast quarter of Section 22, Township 11 North, Range 7 West, because when Partee conveyed this land to William Klaus, he conveyed to Klaus the right to reach the property east of Coon Bayou by right of access from Oil Well Road south and Delta Gulf conveyed the right to reach the property by right of access from Oil Well Road south to the Klaus tract.

In <u>Dieck v. Landry, et al</u>, 796 So.2d 1004, 1009 (Miss. 2001) the Court states:

In *Browder v. Graham*, 204 Miss. 773, 38 So.2d 188 (1948), *Browder* purchased a dominant tenement and it was ruled that 'the conveyance to him of the dominant tenement carried with it the appurtenant easement.' The acquisition of an easement by adverse user for the statutory time is no less efficacious than a deed (properly drawn and delivered) in investing such user with full rights to use, enjoy, own and convey such an easement.

As previously demonstrated on pages 3 and 4 of this Brief under the heading Source of Title, on September 1, 1954 (Exhibit 4, Vol. 4, T.R. 498-500) Lee Pickett and Amber Pickett conveyed by Warranty Deed to Billy Partee, predecessor of the Klaus interest, the Northeast Quarter of Section 22, Township 11 North, Range 7 West, Sharkey County, Mississippi. Billy Partee in turn conveyed property to William J. Klaus which included nine-tenths (9/10) of an acre in the Northeast Quarter of 22 which lies to the East side of Coon Bayou. The

deed conveyed "rights, easements, improvements and appurtenances thereon situate and thereunto belonging." Two-tenths (2/10) of an acre are vested in Ernest G. Thomas to the West of Coon Bayou. The conveyance from Billy Partee under the case law granted to William J. Klaus the right to reach the .9 tenths of an acre located to the East of Coon Bayou from Oil Well Road.

PROPOSITION II

THE COURT ERRED WHEN IT FOUND THAT THE PLAINTIFFS HAD FAILED TO MEET THEIR BURDEN TO ESTABLISH AN EASEMENT BY A NECESSITY.

The Court found on page 23 (Vol. 5, T.R. 670, R.E. 23) of its ruling that:

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