IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**EVANNA PLANTATION, INC.,
DAVID KLAUS, Trustee of the David Klaus Trust,
AND SABILL FARMS PARTNERSHIP**

APPELLANTS

VS.

NO. 2007-CA-02087

ERNEST G. THOMAS AND CAMILLE S. THOMAS

APPELLEES

**APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT
OF
SHARKEY COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI**

BRIEF OF APPELLEES

Submitted by:

**M. JAMES CHANEY, JR. (MSB [REDACTED])
TELLER, CHANEY, HASSELL & HOPSON, LLP
1201 Cherry Street - Nogales Building
P.O. Box 789
Vicksburg, Mississippi 39181
Ph: (601) 636-6565
Fax: (601) 631-0114**

Attorney for Appellees

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**EVANNA PLANTATION, INC.,
DAVID KLAUS, Trustee of the David Klaus Trust,

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

Defendants' Exhibit 45 (R-938) is a photo of Thomas property from Oil Well Road. Except for Klaus' land being cultivated and Thomas land being grass and trees, there is no difference.

The cost of an access road or installing a crossing across Coon Bayou on the Klaus property would be no more difficult or expensive than the cost to install and maintain an access road or crossing on the Thomas property. (Tr. 161, lines 23-26). At one point, Thomas even offered to help Klaus with the cost of the culvert for a crossing on Klaus' own property which Klaus refused. (Tr. 155).

In the Mississippi Delta, a "turn row" or "field road" is simply a lane in a field that is not plowed and gives the farmer access in and around his crops. (Tr. 73, lines 14-22). Klaus admits that prior to 2000, there were "turn rows" or "field roads" on the Klaus property wherein a pickup truck or even a car could travel from the Sabil Road (public road) east to Coon Bayou or from Oil Well Road (public road) south to at least the edge of Coon Bayou on Klaus property if it were dry. (Tr. 70, lines 26-29; Tr. 71, lines 1-29; Tr. 72, lines 1-29; Tr. 74, lines 9-13). Klaus admits that these turn rows or field roads have now been disked away and planted by his current farm tenant, Jessie Willis, in 2000. (Tr. 74, lines 14-18; Tr. 77, lines 5-25). Klaus further admits that this gives him and his tenant a few extra acres of crops and that he prefers all the access roads and crossings to be on

someone else's property for that reason and so that he does not have the headache of installing or maintaining the roads or crossings. (Tr. 74, lines 19-24; Tr. 75, lines 12-17; Tr. 78, lines 1-21).

Thomas introduced into evidence old USCS aerial photos taken in 1966, 1973, and 1979 which indicate field roads or turn rows within the Klaus property from Sabil Road to Coon Bayou. According to Thomas, the 1966 aerial photo indicates a crossing over the bayou on the Klaus property. (Tr. 151; Defendants' Exhibits 67, 68, 69). These low water crossings over Coon Bayou shown in the old aerial photos also confirm the uncontradicted testimony of Bill Crawford, the long time equipment supervisor for Ballard Plantation and Bill Moore, about the low water crossings and ramps that used to cross Coon Bayou when he first came to work for Moore in 1965. (Plaintiff's Exhibit 29, paragraph 5; R-812).

IV. ARGUMENT - LEGAL ANALYSIS

A. Klaus has no express easement.

Klaus has no evidence of any express easement. He can point to no instrument which grants him any easement across any property owned by Thomas. The vague references in several deeds, which state after the granting provision, that the conveyance "is together with and subject to any easements" simply refers to any easements that may already exist and certainly does not create or grant any

new easement. Use of words such as “appurtenances” in a deed is insufficient to show an intention to create an easement where none existed before. Binder v. Weinberg, 48 So. 1013, 94 Miss. 817 (1909); Bonelli v. Blakemore, 5 So. 228, 66 Miss. 136 (1888). The Courts have long held that an easement, just like a deed or any other written instrument, in order to be enforceable, must contain all the formal requisites of a grant of land and should be certain and definite in its terms. McDonald v. Board of Mississippi Levee Commission, 646 F.Supp. 449, 464 (ND Miss 1986); Gulf & Mobile & Ohio R. Co. v. Tallahatchie Drainage Dist., 67 So.2d 528, 533, 218 Miss. 583 (1953). Neither the length of the easement, the width of the easement, the type of the easement, and the location of the easement appears in the Third Amended Complaint, or any instrument, or in Appellants’ brief. Quite simply, there is no easement in favor of Klaus across any property owned by the Defendants.

To the contrary, the evidence shows that the only express easements contained in any of the instruments were easements in favor of Thomas! As to the field road running south from Oil Well Road, in the deed to Hennessey – the predecessor in title to Thomas -- the Grantor, Mississippi Farm Group Limited Partnership, reserved a ten foot wide easement over the existing field road “for the purpose of ingress and egress to adjacent lands in Sections 23 and 26, Township 11

North, Range 7 West, Sharkey County, Mississippi, presently remaining in ownership of Mississippi Farm Group Limited Partnership . . .” (Defendants’ Exhibit 56; R. 949). When Thomas later purchased the remaining property in Section 23 and 26 from Mississippi Farm Group in 1995, Mississippi Farm Group conveyed to Thomas that easement it had reserved and further covenanted and warranted that “it has granted no third party any right of ingress and egress over and across said roadway . . . and that same continues to be a private road for use only by the grantor herein and its successors in title, namely, the grantee herein and by successor in title to said John A. Hennessey, namely, the grantee herein, Ernest G. Thomas” (Plaintiffs’ Exhibit 32; R. 818).

As to the other field road running east from Sabil Road, in 1987, Jane Moore Raney had conveyed a 30 foot wide easement to W.W. Moore that ran east from the County road (Sabil Road) just south of the south line of the north half of the north half of Section 27. This is what is commonly referred to as Coon Bayou Road and is the private field road on property Thomas now owns in Section 27 just south of Klaus’ property. This easement grant states that it is “for the benefit of the west half of Section 23 and all of Section 26, Township 11 North, Range 7 West, Sharkey County, Mississippi.” (Plaintiffs’ Exhibit 16; R.-777). As shown on the map on page 6 and 12 of this Brief, the west half of Section 23 and all of

Section 26 is property now owned by Thomas by virtue of his purchase of Mississippi Farm Group in 1995. (See Exhibit 32, R.-818).

Therefore, not only are the two field roads located on and across property Thomas owns, but the record title to both the easement running east from Sabil Road, called Coon Bayou Road, and the easement running south from Oil Well Road is vested only in Thomas who now owns the properties in Sections 23 and 26 by virtue of the deed from Mississippi Farm Group Limited Partnership. (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 32; R.-818).

B. Klaus cannot prove the necessary elements to establish an implied easement by necessity.

Although Klaus has tried to make a claim for implied easement and an easement by necessity, the Court has held that these are different names for the same type of easement and that these terms are interchangeable. Swan v. Hill, 855 So.2d 459, 463 ¶ 17 (Miss. App. 2003); Crawford v. Butler, 924 So.2d 569, 574 ¶ 15 (Miss. App. 2005). In any event, there are two legal prerequisites before this doctrine may be employed. First, the claimant must show that the easement by necessity arises "when part of a commonly owned tract of land is severed in such a way that either portion of the property has been rendered inaccessible except by passing over the other portion or by trespassing the lands of another". Id. See also Taylor v. Hays, 551 So.2d 906, 908 (Miss. 1989). Second, the claimant must

demonstrate that the tract in issue is without any other means of access. Leaf River Forest Products v. Rowell, 819 So.2d 1281, 1284 (Miss. App. 2002); Burns v. Haynes, 913 So.2d 424, 429, 432 (Miss. App. 2005).

To determine whether a lack of access has been caused by a severance of property that was once commonly owned, one need only review the Plaintiffs' three acquisitions that comprise the 100 acre tract located east of Coon Bayou. As shown in the history of the Klaus acquisitions, the Klaus family obtained the 100 acre tract east of Coon Bayou not in one deed, but via three deeds. (See pages 15 through 20). All three acquisitions by Klaus included property that was on both sides of Coon Bayou. See maps p 16, 18 and 20.

Therefore, Plaintiffs have failed to meet the first requirement to establish an implied easement or easement by necessity, because there is no severance from a commonly owned tract that caused the property to be landlocked. Instead, all of the Klaus acquisitions combined and included property on both sides of Coon Bayou from three different grantors. In Delancey v. Mallette, 912 So.2d 483, 488 (Miss. App. 2005), the Court held that as an initial first step the plaintiff must show his tract is blocked in its access to a public road by a parcel of land with which it was once joined. Plaintiff has failed to meet this burden. In Leaf River Forest Products v. Rowell, 819 So.2d 1281, 1284 (Miss. App. 2002), the court further

explained that the sought after easement “may only traverse land that once comprised the larger tract, and not over just any adjacent lands that might be convenient to a public road”. Furthermore, the Leaf River Forest Products court cited Wills v. Reid, 86 Miss. 446, 453, 38 So. 793, 795 (1905) for the proposition that an easement by necessity will not exist unless it is shown by the claimant that the necessity arose “the exact moment of the conveyance or severance from the common tract”. 819 So.2d at 1284, 1285.

In addition to the fact that all three acquisitions by Klaus entities included property on both sides of Coon Bayou and that nothing was severed by reason thereof, the Plaintiffs have not shown that Billy Partee, Delta Gulf Drilling Company, or William W. Moore at the time of their conveyance to the Klaus family, also owned property across which Klaus now wants to claim an easement. As previously shown, Thomas acquired his properties from three different grantors: Hennessey, Mississippi Farm Group Limited Partnership, and Jane Raney.

Even if Klaus could satisfy the requirement that his property became landlocked as the result of severance of the property from a commonly owned tract, Klaus still can not meet his burden of proving real necessity. All of the maps, aerial photos, and testimony demonstrate that Klaus’ property is contiguous

and adjacent to two public roads - Sabil Road to the west and Oil Well Road to the north. The most direct route to Klaus' easternmost property is across Klaus' own property. Defendants' Exhibits 41, 42, and 43 R.-934, 935, 936) are photos of access to Klaus' property from Oil Well Road which Klaus acknowledges indicate no impairment. Defendants' Exhibit 45 R.-938) is a photo from Oil Well Road onto Thomas' property. Other than the Klaus land being a cultivated field and Thomas land being grass, there is no difference. Plaintiffs can not plow over their own field roads in order to squeeze out a few more acres of crops and then claim no access.

Furthermore, there has been no showing that a crossing over Coon Bayou itself would be more expensive to install and maintain on the Klaus property as opposed to the crossing on Thomas property. In fact, the testimony reflects that the cost would be no different. (Tr. 161.) Likewise, Klaus presented no evidence that the cost for Klaus to install a culvert on his own property is disproportionate to the value of his 100 acres.

In fact, Klaus introduced no evidence whatsoever of the cost to install his own culvert or crossing over Coon Bayou. The only figures presented were the Klaus' share ($\frac{1}{2}$) of the cost to replace the culvert over Coon Bayou in 1998 with an old fuel tank was only \$1,500.00 which Klaus declined to pay. (R.-808, 895;

Tr. 63). In Sturdivant, et al. v. Todd, et al., 956 So. 2d 977 (Miss. App. 2007) (February 6, 2007); and Burns v. Haynes, 913 So.2d 424, 431 (Miss. App. 2005) the Court held that the failure of the Plaintiff to present evidence that it would be prohibitively expensive for another route is fatal to the Plaintiffs' claim. The burden is on the Plaintiff to show that an alternative route would involve disproportionate expense and inconvenience, such as when the cost would exceed the entire value of the property to which access is sought. The evidence here is that the inconvenience of maintaining a crossing would be no different on Klaus' property than it is on the Thomas property. Klaus simply does not want any expense or inconvenience. This is obvious from his refusal to share the cost to repair the Coon Bayou crossing in 1998 when he lost his permission to continue to use it. Klaus wants to access his 100 acres from Thomas' property so that Klaus can plant every square inch of his land and have no maintenance expense or worries. Like the unsuccessful claimant in Burns v. Haynes, 913 So.2d 424 (Miss. App. 2005), Klaus provided no evidence of costs nor did experts testify. Thus Klaus failed to prove he was entitled to an easement by necessity.

C. Klaus cannot establish the prerequisites for a prescriptive easement.

Finally, Plaintiffs contend they are entitled to a prescriptive easement across both tracts: first being along Coon Bayou Road (the private field road) easterly

from Sabil Road which is south of Plaintiffs' property and, secondly, south from Oil Well Road to the north part of their 100 acres.

In order to establish a prescriptive easement, the elements of proof are the same as to establish adverse possession of land. The Plaintiffs must show that their possession was:

1. Open, notorious, and visible
2. Hostile
3. Under claim of ownership
4. Exclusive
5. Peaceful, and
6. Continuous and uninterrupted for at least 10 years

See Biddix v. McConnell, 911 So.2d 468, 475 (Miss. 2005). The person claiming the prescriptive easement has the burden of proving each of the above elements by clear and convincing evidence. Id. at 475. See also West v. Brewer, 579 So.2d 1261, 1262 (Miss. 1991).

Like the claimants in Biddix v. McConnell, Klaus fails to show that he alone cared for the property as if it were his own. 911 So.2d at 475, 476. Another flaw similar to what the Court found in Biddix is that "joint use of property is insufficient to establish adverse possession". 911 So.2d at 476. In addition,

sporadic, noncontinuous use is insufficient to establish a prescriptive easement. 911 So.2d at 477.

Perhaps the most compelling legal problem for Klaus on the question of prescriptive easement, however, is his own testimony that his family had always had *permission* to use both entrances until the permission was withdrawn by Ernest Thomas in 2002. (Tr. 54, 59, 62, 86). Moore's testimony is that Klaus' family had permission to use the crossing over Coon Bayou if they would share the maintenance cost 50/50. The crossing washed out in 1995 and was not repaired until 1998. Klaus refused to pay his portion which was about \$1,500.00. When the crossing washed out, Thomas gave Klaus permission to cross his property from Oil Well Road, but Klaus and his tenants abused that permission and it was withdrawn.

In Sharp v. White, 749 So.2d 41, 42 (Miss. 1999), after discussing the six necessary elements, the Court held: "However, use by express or implied permission or license, no matter how long continued, can not ripen into an easement by prescription since adverse use is lacking". In Sharp, the Supreme Court reversed the Court of Appeals because, like the case *sub judice*, the uncontradicted evidence showed that the use of the road was permissive and remained so until the Sharp informed White that she would no longer be allowed to use it. Thus, the Plaintiffs here, like the claimant in Sharp v. White, has failed to

establish at least three of those six elements. 749 So.2d at 43.

This rule of law was reconfirmed in Burns v. Haynes, 913 So.2d 424, 429 (Miss. App. 2005) when the court again held “permission, once given, will not ripen to adverse possession” and use by express or implied permission or license, no matter how long continued can never ripen into an easement by prescription.

V. CONCLUSION

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